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Contact: Richie Ah Mat 

Email: rahmat@cylc.org.au  

 

 

 

The Hon Ken Wyatt MP 
Minister for Indigenous Affairs 
Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet 

 

Dear Minister 

It is with pleasure that I present to you the Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation’s (CYLC) 
Annual Report for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 

CYLC continues to build on its proud history of achievements.  Every year CYLC staff and Board 
members work on land and sea matters with Traditional Owners and other stakeholders across Cape 
York to increase positive outcomes for Aboriginal people.  Foremost amongst CYLC’s activities is 
effective delivery of Native Title Representative Body statutory functions as required under the 
Native Title Act 1993 and your department’s Program Funding Agreement.  The past year has been 
no exception to CYLC’s record of performance. 

In partnership with the government and based on CYLC’s past and future achievements, I look 
forward to progressively realising the long-held aspirations of the Aboriginal people of Cape York to 
regain and enjoy their rights to land and sea so they can preserve their culture and have increased 
opportunities to achieve a better future.  I submit the CYLC 2017 - 18 Annual Report for your 
consideration. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

Richie Ah Mat 
Chairperson 
Cape York Land Council  



We acknowledge the Traditional Owners of Country throughout Cape York and 
their continuing connection to land, sea and community. We pay our respects 
to them and their cultures, to the Elders past, present and emerging.
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ACHA  Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2003 (Qld)
AGM Annual General Meeting
ALA Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld)
Balkanu Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation
CATSIA Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 (Cth)
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CHA Cultural Heritage Agreement
Cth Commonwealth
CYLC Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation
CYPAL Cape York Peninsula Aboriginal Land
CYPHA Cape York Peninsula Heritage Act 2007 (Qld)
CYWR Cape York Welfare Reform
DOGIT Deed of Grant in Trust
FAN Future Act Notice
F/T Full Time
GIS Geographic Information System
ha Hectares
ILUA Indigenous Land Use Agreement
LHA Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Land Holding Act 2013 (Qld) (Land Holding Act)
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
NTA Native Title Act 1993 (Cth)
NNTT National Native Title Tribunal
NPT National Park Transfer
NTDA Native Title Determination Application
NTRB Native Title Representative Body
NTPCs Native Title Protection Conditions
NTU Native Title Unit
ORIC Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations
PBCSC Prescribed Body Corporate Support Unit
PDR Peninsula Development Road
PLO Principal Legal Officer
P/T  Part Time
PBC Prescribed Body Corporate
PFA Program Funding Agreement
PLO Principal Legal Officer 
PM&C Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet
QRBA Queensland Representative Body Alliance
RNTBC Registered Native Title Body Corporate
SLD State Land Dealings
SP Service Provider
WCCCA Western Cape Communities Co-existence Agreement 2001

Acronyms
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The work of the Cape York Land Council is extensive, complex and evolving.  It is necessary 
work that challenges constantly and rewards frugally.  But the investment in establishing native 
title rights is our legacy for Cape York’s future generations, same as the investment made by 
our old people in establishing CYLC in 1990.  

Cape York itself is vast – twice the size of Tasmania, minus the infrastructure.  We have a 
complex array of tenure, rights and interests, all of which require significant investment of 
people’s time and energy to understand and navigate.  

Our Elders instigated an ambitious process to resolve the outstanding unclaimed areas of Cape 
York through the Cape York United Number 1 Claim (One Claim).  They are all too familiar with 
the length of time taken to prosecute a claim - many of our Elders have passed, not being able 
to witness the determination of their traditional ownership.  

It is our wish for the One Claim to successfully expedite the native title process, allowing our 
Elders and Traditional Owners not only the right to enjoy the recognition of their native title 
rights, but to once again be at the forefront of native title reform in Australia.  

Traditional Owners hold the key to unlocking the gates that keep us in the compound like cattle 
that hobble land rights and economic development.  At the Djarragun Summit held in August 
2017, Minister Scullion was presented with the Land Council’s case for structural reform.  The 
proposal considered the role of CYLC post One Claim.  

Minister Scullion issued a challenge to CYLC and other Cape York regional organisations: 
Develop an agenda that considers economic development, empowered communities and land 
reform.  

From this the Pama Futures agenda was born in 2017.  We began a series of co-design 
workshops in October and November during which we sought the views and input of 
Traditional Owners from across Cape York into the design of the Pama Futures reform agenda.  
We asked them to help define CYLC's role in the future.  At the Cape York Summit convened 
at Palm Cove in December 2017, the Traditional Owners issued their requirement for CYLC to 
support a number of initiatives including Investment Ready Tenure and campfire governance.

CYLC always will be an organisation lead by Cape York people to deliver the vision of Elders 
from 30 years ago. 

Richie Ah Mat
Chair
Cape York Land Council

Report by Chair



Weipa Wetlands
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Since 1990 the Cape York Land Council has operated true to the guiding vision of its founding 
Elders to represent and support the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York to regain rights to land 
and sea, to preserve their culture, and make their own decisions to better their futures. 

CYLC continues to realise this guiding vision by performing a broad range of functions as a 
Land Council, including through our role as the Native Title Representative Body (NTRB) for 
Cape York.  Over 2017-18 CYLC was recognised by the Australian Government as the Cape York 
NTRB, and in this role CYLC is responsible for fulfilling statutory functions under the Native Title 
Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA).  

CYLC is based on a corporate structure consisting of a Board of Directors, a Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) and operational staff.  The Board of Directors determine CYLC’s strategic 
direction, and as CEO I then direct operational staff to deliver actions and outcomes identified 
by the Board.  Board members have been the backbone of CYLC since its inception, and we 
have been privileged that some of the most dedicated people from Cape York have sat on our 
Board over the years.  The term of the current Board continues until November 2019. 

CYLC’s NTRB efforts over 2017-18 were focussed on building a comprehensive platform of 
native title rights for Cape York’s Aboriginal people.  We continued to progress the Cape 
York United Number 1 Claim that was registered on 6 February 2015.  This is one of the 
largest current claims in Australia, and the first where a NTRB has claimed virtually all of the 
undetermined land and internal waters within its representative area.  We had cause for 
celebration on 26 July 2017 when the Federal Court found that native title exists in the entire 
determination area of CYLC’s Northern Cape York Group #3, the Ankamuthi People and the 
Ankamuthi People #2 native title claims.  The Ipima Ikaya Aboriginal Corporation and the 
Seven Rivers Aboriginal Corporation RNTBCs were established to hold and manage native title 
for these areas.  CYLC continued to progress the Northern Peninsula Sea Claim and the North 
Eastern Peninsula Sea Claim, and is making preparations to lodge further sea claims.

To assist informed engagement with Cape York’s Traditional Owners about native title and 
other matters CYLC continues to develop a Cape York genealogical database.  When completed, 
the genealogical database will provide comprehensive information about Traditional Owners 
for areas of country, and will greatly assist engagement with the right people in native title 
claims and other processes. 

CYLC was involved in the negotiation and registration of seven ILUAs over 2017-18, and is 
also involved in the negotiation, or awaiting the registration, of other ILUAs across Cape York 
anticipated to be completed over 2018-19.  Activities on almost all of Cape York must now 
comply with requirements of the NTA because of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim, other 
claims and previous native title determinations.  This includes that a FAN must be provided to 
Traditional Owners for all activities that may impact on native title rights and interests.  CYLC 
receives FANs from government on behalf of development proponents and then distributes 
them to the relevant Traditional Owners.  CYLC dealt with 264 FANs over 2017-18. Although 
our FAN work has increased as a result of the CYLC’s native title determinations and claims, 
we’re happy with this extra work because it means we’re able to give Traditional Owners more 
involvement in the activities that occur on their land. 

CYLC strongly believes that our role is not finished upon the determination of native title and 
establishment of a Registered Native Title Body Corporate (RNTBC/PBC).  Our PBC Support 
Unit delivers post-determination support to RNTBCs to assist them to fulfil their corporate 
responsibilities and provide ongoing benefits to the native title holders they serve.  The PBC 
Support Unit offers a suite of tools aimed at strengthening the capacity of PBC Directors to 

Report by CEO
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capably manage their PBC, including corporate governance, financial management, strategic planning and statutory 
compliance.  Our ultimate aim is to have as many of our PBCs and Traditional Owner groups as possible to become  
self-governing, economically viable and self-sufficient. 

In addition to achieving native title outcomes, CYLC is also committed to securing Aboriginal freehold and other 
land rights for Cape York’s Aboriginal people.  To achieve this, CYLC shares legal expertise and other resources in a 
partnership with Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation to assist in State Lands Dealing (SLD) processes.  
As a result of CYLC’s efforts and through partnerships with Balkanu and our Traditional Owners, Cape York’s Aboriginal 
people hold native title and Aboriginal freehold land rights over increasingly large areas of the Cape and this provides 
the greatest possible range of rights, interests and opportunities.  SLD negotiations are ongoing and I expect that over 
2018-19 many thousands more hectares of land will be transferred to Aboriginal freehold tenure and the ownership of 
Traditional Owners.  

With native title and land rights processes progressing well, the CYLC Board and management team have commenced 
planning for the post determination era so that CYLC can support hard won native title and land rights and ensure they 
are well managed and provide ongoing benefits for Cape York Aboriginal people. CYLC has a history of consulting with 
and taking direction from our members, and we have taken this approach to planning the future by hosting two major 
Land Summits towards the end of 2017.  

On 29-31 August 2017 CYLC brought hundreds of Cape York people to Djarragun Wilderness Centre in Gordonvale 
for a land summit to discuss the way forward for Cape York under the broad themes of Empowerment, CYLC 2.0, 
and Constitutional Recognition.  This was followed up on 11-12 December 2017 at Palm Cove with the Cape York 2.0 
Agenda Summit, which resulted in the proposal for Pama Futures.  Over 2018 CYLC then implemented sub-regional 
workshops and community meetings to further define Pama Futures and develop agreement around future objectives.  
This work is ongoing and will continue into 2018-19.  

CYLC shares many objectives in common with other organisations and we recognise that working in partnerships, 
sharing resources and developing common positions is often the most effective way of achieving progress.   
Over 2017-18, CYLC worked with other Queensland NTRBs and Service Providers, Cape York regional organisations, 
government agencies and others to advance our objectives. CYLC is a member of the Queensland Representative Body 
Alliance (QRBA) where NTRB/SP Chairs, CEOs, PLOs and relevant staff meet to share information and discuss issues of 
common interest, such as proposed amendments to legislation.  

Ongoing delivery of CYLC’s broad-ranging functions depends upon good internal governance, human resource 
management and financial accountability.  CYLC strives to excel in these areas so that our service delivery is optimal.  
Over 2017-18, CYLC staff remain committed to achieving our ambitious objectives and continued to work hard to 
achieve outcomes despite diminishing resourcing, the ongoing challenges of working in remote areas, and dealing with 
competing interests that don’t always respect the interests of Aboriginal people.  With the support of the CYLC Board 
of Directors, CYLC operational staff will continue to develop our capacities to deliver services to Cape York Traditional 
Owner groups. 

CYLC also receives support from external partners such as Jawun who provide secondees from entities such as 
Westpac, QBE, KPMG and the Australian Government.  We also receive support from Aurora secondees who provide 
good support to our legal and anthropological staff. 

I would like to take this opportunity to once again thank Cape York Elders, Traditional Owners, Chairman Richie Ah 
Mat, other members of the Board and the Aboriginal people of Cape York for their cooperative spirit, their respect for 
all those who have been before them, and their desire to work towards a better day for all those who will come after 
them.

Peter	Callaghan 
Chief Executive Officer 
Cape York Land Council

Cape	York	Land	Council	Annual	Report |	2017-2018



112017-2018 | Cape York Land Council Annual Report

Background
Twenty-eight years ago Cape York Land Council (CYLC) was established at the Cape York Land Summit and galvanised 
with the planting of the Aboriginal flag on a beach at Lockhart River in November 1990.  Cape York Elders invested 
their personal resources to establish the CYLC to ensure Cape York’s Aboriginal people had a strong voice to represent 
them in all matters relating to their traditional land and sea.

The original Charter of CYLC identified a number of objectives including:

 • Providing a vehicle for self-determination for the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York.

 • Providing a representative voice for the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York in relation to land issues.

 • Respecting and recognising land rights and responsibilities of Traditional Owners of land in Cape York.

 • Transparency and accountability to government and Traditional Owners and partners.

 • Respecting the culture of the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York Peninsula.

 • Providing opportunities for Cape York Aboriginal people to acquire management skills appropriate to the  
  needs of their communities.

The CYLC Mission Statement, as set down by Elders who may have now left us but whose vision remains amongst 
those who continue to fight to ensure that the objectives of the CYLC Charter are achieved, is to:

“Consult with and according to their directions, effectively  
represent the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York to regain  

rights to land and sea so we can preserve our culture and  
make our own decisions to achieve a better future.”

Cape	York	Land	Council	Overview

Flag raising at Lockhart River 1990



Figure 1 – CYLC NTRB Representative Area showing determined, claimed and unclaimed areas
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CYLC was recognised as the Native Title Representative Body (NTRB) for the Cooktown region by the Commonwealth 
Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs in 1993.  Since that time, CYLC has undergone numerous 
operational and re-recognition reviews, and is currently recognised as the NTRB for the Cape York Representative Area 
until 30 June 2018.

CYLC is a key link in a network of specialist community-based organisations representing the interests of the Aboriginal 
peoples of Cape York, with its focus on achieving timely and meaningful outcomes for constituents on land and native 
title matters within the region.

Representative	area
Figure 1 shows land and sea country included within CYLC’s Representative Area (noting that sea country extends 
further east than shown).

Functions
As required under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA), CYLC undertakes statutory functions to fulfil its role as the 
Cape York NTRB.  These include:

 • Facilitation and assistance functions (s203BB).

 • Certification functions (s203BE).

 • Dispute resolution functions (s203BF).

 • Notification functions (s203BG).

 • Agreement-making functions (s203BH).

 • Internal review functions (s203BI).

 • Other functions (s203BJ and s203AI).

CYLC has also established a Prescribed Body Corporate (PBC) Support Unit to provide support services to PBCs and 
Registered Native Title Bodies Corporate (RNTBCs) so that native title claimants and holders have legally compliant and 
capable organisations to represent their interests and achieve benefits from native title.

In addition to the statutory functions of a NTRB, CYLC also performs broader Land Council functions including:

 • Responding to the implementation of Queensland legislation which affects native title interests including the  
  Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld) (ALA), Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Land Holding Act 2013 (Qld) (LHA),  
  Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2003 (Qld) (ACHA), Cape York Peninsula Heritage Act 2007 (Qld) (CYPHA).

 • Participation in policy reviews and legislative amendment processes which affect native title and Aboriginal  
  interests.

 • Participation in policy implementation such as the Cape York Welfare Reform (CYWR) agenda.

 • Participation in cultural heritage mapping and protection.

 • Participation in land use planning and management.

 • Providing a centralised, secure repository for anthropological research and genealogies.

 • Providing a secure repository for backup copies of important documents such as RNTBC legal documents.

 • Involvement in resolving land administration and land tenure issues on Aboriginal land.

 • Promoting home ownership and economic development on Aboriginal land.

 • Promoting economic development and healthier living.
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Whilst performing its functions, CYLC operates in compliance with the guidelines of the Program Funding Agreement 
(PFA) and the requirements of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 (Cth) (CATSIA).  To 
balance competing priorities and demands on resources CYLC remains cognisant that its ultimate priority, consistent 
with NTA s203B(4), must be the protection of native title holders’ interests.  CYLC performs all its functions to achieve 
this crucial outcome, using the organisational structure  shown in Figure 2.

Organisational	structure

Figure 2 – CYLC Organisational Structure
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Native	Title	Unit
CYLC’s Native Title Unit (NTU) provides legal and anthropological services to support Native Title Determination 
Applications (NTDAs) (also known as ‘claims’), the negotiation of agreements, responses to future acts, and fulfilment 
of other NTA responsibilities.  The NTU also supports the State Land Dealings (SLD) and National Park Transfer 
programs and addresses other land matters of interest to the Aboriginal people of Cape York.

These services are provided by the NTU within the context of the regional research strategy adopted by CYLC in 2009 
which identified six regions within the CYLC Representative Area.  The regional research approach has assisted CYLC 
develop its Cape-wide regional approach to native title.

The six regions within the Cape York Representative Area are:

 • North Cape

 • North East Cape

 • South East Cape

 • Central Cape

 • Kowanyama and Pormpuraaw

 • Wik and Wik Way.

Figure 3 shows the regions within CYLC’s Representative Area.

Cape-wide	Report
Cape	York	United	Number	1	Claim

In 2014 CYLC undertook a comprehensive information and consultation process across Cape York and regional 
Queensland, seeking authorisation for the lodgement of a large regional native title determination application to cover 
the 55% (approximately) of claimable land within the Cape York Representative Area that was not already claimed or 
determined.  The consultation and authorisation process overwhelmingly authorised CYLC to lodge the large, united 
regional claim.

The Cape York United Number 1 Claim (Federal Court No QUD673/2014) application was lodged on 12 December 
2014 and registered on 6 February 2015.  This claim is also referred to as One Claim.  The outer boundary of the claim 
follows the southern boundary of the Cape York Representative Area and the coast of Cape York to the mean high 
water mark.  The claim excludes:

 • Areas that were subject to native title determinations at the time the claim was lodged.

 • Areas that were subject to other native title determination applications at the time the claim was lodged.

 • Freehold land.

 • Public works including dedicated roads.

 • The area of the WCCCA (Indigenous Land Use Agreement (QIA2001/002).

 • Other non-claimable lands and waters (for example, land under a validly granted previous exclusive  
  possession act within the meaning of s23B of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA).

Report on Performance



Figure 3 – Cape York research regions
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The result is that almost all claimable land and inland waterways within the Cape York Representative Area is now 
either within a native title determination or included within a registered NTDA, except for an area around the Weipa 
peninsula. 

The Cape York United Number 1 Claim is one of the largest of the current claims in Australia and the first where a 
Native Title Representative Body has claimed virtually all of the land and inland waterways within its representative 
area. The key principle of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim is that traditional owners for each area continue to 
speak for country according to their laws and customs.  Any future acts and other activities occurring on Cape York 
must therefore comply with the relevant provisions of the NTA.

CYLC has engaged eight experienced consultant anthropologists to prepare connection materials for the Cape 
York United Number 1 Claim. Each anthropologist has conducted fieldwork and desktop research and a senior 
anthropologist is compiling an overarching society report using this material.  The anthropological reports will be used 
in the determination process for the Cape York United Number 1 Claim.

Since 2015 CYLC has also engaged an experienced historian as a consultant to compile a genealogical database for the 
whole of the CYLC’s representative area.  The work has progressed from consolidating existing databases and native 
title research materials to assisting in the process of preparing material as part of the Cape York United Number 1 
Claim.  The consultant historian is working with the consultant anthropologists to settle materials to be used in the 
determination process and is undertaking archival and other research to create a more detailed and comprehensive 
resource.  The resulting database will be a valuable resource for Traditional Owners and for CYLC, as it will enable a 
more streamlined and efficient process for dealing with future acts and other activities on Cape York.

“It is our wish for the One Claim to successfully expedite the  
native title process, allowing our Elders and Traditional Owners  

not only the right to enjoy the recognition of their native title rights,  
but to once again be at the forefront of native title reform in Australia.”

Richie Ah Mat, Chair, Cape York Land Council

CYLC, on behalf of native title parties for Cape York, is actively engaged in negotiations with the State of Queensland 
and other respondents to the Cape York United Number 1 Claim with a view to securing a consent determination 
of native title for this vast area.  The Federal Court has set a timetable to enable a consent determination to be 
negotiated within six years from registration of the application.
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Cape	York	Sea	Claims

CYLC is currently conducting the necessary research to base one or a series of NTDAs for the sea country surrounding 
Cape York.  It is anticipated that a comprehensive information and authorisation process will be undertaken in 2020.  

ILUA Negotiations

The large and comprehensive nature of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim has resulted in an increase in future acts 
and other activities requiring compliance with the NTA.

One significant activity that must now comply with the NTA is the upgrade of the Peninsula Developmental Road (PDR).  
The State of Queensland agreed to negotiate an ILUA that provided for compliance with the NTA and other relevant 
legislation including the Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2003 (Qld).  PDR ILUA negotiations were completed over 
2016-17.

Dispute	Resolution	Project

The Cape York United Number 1 Claim principle that only traditional owners for an area continue to speak for country 
according to their laws and customs means that there are no claim boundary disputes delaying progress of the claim 
in the Federal Court.  The single claim without boundary disputes has altered the nature of the conversation amongst 
native title parties.  

However, CYLC has developed dispute resolution procedures to assist native title parties resolve disputes in a culturally 
sensitive manner.  These procedures will be utilised when disputes arise regarding rights to make decisions for land 
and waters, or other related issues.

Cape York - the most northerly point of Australia
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Regional	Reports
North Cape

Native title determinations 
There were three native title determinations in the North Cape region over 2017-18.

The Northern Cape York Group #3 (QUD780/2016) determination was made on 26 July 2017.  The Federal Court found 
that native title exists in the entire determination area.  The Ipima Ikaya Aboriginal Corporation is the RNTBC for this 
area.

The Ankamuthi People (QUD6158/1998) determination was made on 26 July 2017.  The Federal Court found that 
native title exists in the entire determination area.  The Seven Rivers Aboriginal Corporation is the RNTBC for this area.

The Ankamuthi People #2 (QUD392/2014) determination was made on 26 July 2017.  The Federal Court found that 
native title exists in the entire determination area.  The Seven Rivers Aboriginal Corporation is the RNTBC for this area.

Ankamuthi Determination, 26 July 2017

Native title determination applications  
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 December 2014.  All remaining claimable land and 
inland waterways within the North Cape region that is not part of one of the NTDAs listed above is now claimed as 
part of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim, except for the Weipa peninsula area.  CYLC is currently considering the 
preparation of a claim for the unclaimed Weipa peninsula area. 

ILUA registrations 
The Ergon Energy and Ankamuthi People ILUA (QI2017/007) was registered on 3 November 2017.  The ILUA is an 
Area Agreement and covers approximately 536 square kilometres.  It is located 8 kilometres north-east of Mapoon, 
bordered on the south by the Ducie River and north to an area located approximately 40km south-west of Bamaga.  
The ILUA provides for the on-going relationship between Ergon Energy’s interests in the Ankamuthi Peoples’ native 
title determination area and the interests of the Ankamuthi People native title-holders, and consent for the doing of 
particular future acts by Ergon Energy within the determination area.
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ILUA negotiations 
Napranum Township Community Development ILUA negotiations between the Napranum Aboriginal Shire Council, the 
Applicant in the Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014), Traditional Owners and the State of Queensland 
commenced in September 2017.  This ILUA negotiation seeks to provide simplified native title consent processes and 
compensation for future acts which may occur in the Napranum town area.  Negotiations are ongoing.

Other 
CYLC continues to assist the Ipima Ikaya Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (for the Northern Cape York No.1 Claim NCY#1 
determination), the Mokwiri Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (for the NCY#2 determination), the Seven Rivers Aboriginal 
Corporation RNTBC and Wuthathi Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC to fulfil their RNTBC responsibilities.

North East Cape

Native title determinations 
There were no native title determinations in the North East Cape region over 2017-18.

Native title determination applications 
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 December 2014. All claimable land and inland 
waterways within the North East Cape region is now claimed as part of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim.

ILUA negotiations 
The Bromley Land Transfer ILUA (QI2017/015) was negotiated in 2016-17 and placed on the NNTT ILUA register 
on 30 January 2018. The ILUA covers approximately 1,639 square kilometres, about 40 kilometres north-west of 
Lockhart River, in the vicinity of Temple Bay and the old Bromley and Boynton pastoral holdings.  The ILUA provides for 
transfer of land as Aboriginal freehold tenure to Bromley Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, and the dedication and joint 
management of Bromley (Ampulin) National Park (CYPAL) and Bromley (Kungkaychi) National Park (CYPAL). 

Quintell Beach Lockhart River
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The Wuthathi Land Transfer ILUA (QI2016/061) was registered on 7 March 2018. The ILUA is an Area Agreement and 
covers approximately 1,184 square kilometres, 200 kilometres north-west of Lockhart River, in the vicinity of Shelburne 
Bay.  The ILUA provides for transfer of land as Aboriginal freehold tenure to Wuthathi Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC 
and the dedication and joint management of Wuthathi (Shelburne Bay) National Park (CYPAL), Sir Charles Hardy Group 
National Park (CYPAL) and Saunders Island National Park (CYPAL). 

Lockhart River Township Community Development ILUA negotiations between the Lockhart River Aboriginal Shire 
Council, the Applicant in the Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) and the State of Queensland 
commenced in mid-2014, however negotiations were put on hold by the State in mid-2015.  ILUA negotiations 
recommenced in February 2017 and are ongoing.

The Toolka Land Trust Land Use Activity ILUA negotiations between the Toolka Land Trust, the Applicant in the Cape 
York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) claim and the Traditional Owners commenced in 2018.  This ILUA will 
provide simplified native title consent processes and compensation for future acts which may occur on the Toolka area.

Land transfers 
In May 2017 the ex-Bromley and Boynton pastoral properties were transferred to the Bromley Aboriginal Corporation 
RNTBC. 

Other 
CYLC continues to assist the Kuuku Ya’u Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and the Bromley Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC 
to fulfil their RNTBC responsibilities.

South East Cape

Native title determinations 
There were no native title determinations in the South East Cape region over 2017-18.

Native title determination applications 
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 December 2014.  All claimable land and inland 
waterways within the South East Cape region is now claimed as part of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim.

ILUA registrations 
The Sandstone West Land Transfer ILUA (QI2016/048) was placed on the NNTT ILUA register on 21 February 2018.  The 
ILUA is an Area Agreement and covers approximately 367 square kilometres.  It is located about 58 kilometres north-
west of Cooktown.  The ILUA provides for transfer of land as Aboriginal freehold tenure to Balnggarrawarra Aboriginal 
Corporation and the dedication and joint management of Ngaynggarr National Park (CYPAL).

The Melsonby ILUA (QI2016/048) was placed on the NNTT ILUA register on 21 February 2018.  The ILUA is an 
Area Agreement and covers approximately 107 square kilometres.  It is located about 52 kilometres north-west of 
Cooktown.  The ILUA provides consent for the grant of an easement to each of the Department of National Parks, 
Sport and Racing (Qld) and Telstra Corporation.

ILUA negotiations 
Negotiations are at a stalemate for the Cooktown Foreshore Infrastructure ILUA between the Cook Shire Council 
and the Waymbuurr-Warra people and must later involve the Applicant in the Cape York United Number 1 Claim 
(QUD673/2014).   These negotiations commenced in February 2016.  This ILUA is required to provide native title 
consent and compensation for foreshore developments which have been progressed towards the 250th anniversary 
of the arrival of Captain Cook at the location of Cooktown in 1770.  Negotiations will resume when Cook Shire Council 
follows the agreed process for the negotiation of the ILUA in mediation involving the National Native Title Tribunal.

CYLC is assisting with negotiation of the Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC ILUA which will provide 
simplified processes for native title consent for the grant of leases over Aboriginal freehold land in Hope Vale.  In 
its capacity as the trustee of Aboriginal freehold land, this ILUA will facilitate Congress to grant leases for home 
ownership, commercial activity and other purposes outside of the town area.
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Land transfers 
CYLC is assisting Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and 
Dhubbi Warra Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC to initiate a transfer of the 
Hope Vale town area from Deed of Grant in Trust tenure held by the Hope 
Vale Aboriginal Shire Council to Aboriginal freehold tenure held by an 
Aboriginal Land Trust.  The transfer will be under the provisions of the 
Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld).

Other 
CYLC continues to provide strategic support to the Dhubbi Warra 
Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and the Walmbaar Aboriginal Corporation 
RNTBC to assist them to fulfil their RNTBC responsibilities.

Central	Cape	

Native title determinations 
There were no native title determinations in the Central Cape region over 
2017-18.

Native title determination applications  
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 
December 2014. All claimable land and inland waterways within the 
Central Cape region is now claimed as part of the Cape York United 
Number 1 Claim.

ILUA registrations 
The Peninsula Developmental Road ILUA was registered on the NNTT ILUA 
register on 11 July 2017.  The agreement area covers approx. 6,166 sq km extending about 500km south easterly from 
about 35km east of Weipa to 85km north-west of Mossman along the Cape York Peninsula Developmental Road (PDR). 
The ILUA provides for the doing of road works and other activities associated with the upgrade of the PDR.

Land transfers 
No land was transferred to Aboriginal freehold tenure in the Central Cape region over 2017-18.

Pormpuraaw	and	Kowanyama	

Native title determinations 
There was no native title determination in the Pormpuraaw region or Kowanyama region over 2017-18.

Native title determination applications 
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 December 2014.  All claimable land and inland 
waterways within the Pormpuraaw and Kowanyama region is now claimed as part of the Cape York United Number 1 
Claim.

ILUA registrations 
The Topsy Creek Barge Ramp Project ILUA was placed on the NNTT ILUA Register on 18 May 2018. This is a Body 
Corporate ILUA and covers an area of about 0.4 hectares.  It is located between the eastern bank of Topsy Creek and 
Topsy Road south of Kowanyama.  The ILUA provides consent for the construction of a barge ramp, and surrender of 
native title for the opening of a road and associated activities.

ILUA negotiations 
No ILUA negotiations were in progress in the Pormpuraaw and Kowanyama region over 2017-18.
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Land transfers 
No land was transferred to Aboriginal freehold tenure in the Pormpuraaw and Kowanyama region over 2017-18. 

Other 
CYLC continues to assist the Abm Elgoring Ambung Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and the Thaa-Nguigarr Strathgordon 
Aboriginal Corporation to fulfil their RNTBC responsibilities.

CYLC legally represented Abm Elgoring Ambung RNTBC in Federal Court proceedings Country Carbon Pty Ltd v Clean 
Energy Regulator & Anor-VID 1108 of 2017.  These proceedings concerned a point of statutory construction over the 
necessity of securing the consent of native title holders in areas where non-exclusive native title is determined to exist.  
This matter was heard in the Federal Court in April 2018 before Justice Mortimer.  As a final decision was handed down 
in November 2018 dismissing the application for judicial review. 

Wik and Wik Way 

Native title determinations 
There were no native title determinations in the Wik and Wik Way region over 2017-18.

Native title determination applications 
Cape York United Number 1 Claim (QUD673/2014) was filed on 12 December 2014.  All claimable land and inland 
waterways within the Wik and Wik Way region is now claimed as part of the Cape York United Number 1 Claim.

ILUA registrations 
No ILUAs were registered in the Wik and Wik Way region during 2017-18.

ILUA negotiations 
ILUA negotiations in progress in the Wik and Wik Way region during 2017-18 are as follows:

 • Initial negotiations concerning a compensation agreement for the Tcharawopin Project located adjacent  
  to the North Watson River were abandoned after Glencore Bauxite decided the project was commercially  
  unviable.
 • Glencore Bauxite indicated its willingness to commence the process of ILUA negotiations in anticipation of an  
  application for a mining lease over an area located in the northerly section of MDL2001.

Kowanyama - Mitchell River causeway
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Land transfers 
No land was transferred to Aboriginal freehold tenure in the Wik and Wik Way region during 2017-18.

Other 
CYLC continues to assist the Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC to fulfil its RNTBC responsibilities.  
Highlights include:
 • A CHA agreement between the Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and  
  Gamboola Resources Pty Ltd. 
 • The development of a visitor management system over Wik determined lands.
 • Liaison and negotiation with Queensland Police over the illegal occupation of land  
  near Watson River.
 • Liaising with native title holders over the establishment of trusts to manage monies received  
  under certain future act agreements.
 • Commencement of proceedings to recover monies owed to the Corporation by  
  Green Coast Resources Pty Ltd.

Agreements	Database	And	Implementation
As of 30 June 2018, the CYLC Agreements Database records 254 executed agreements, including:
 • 101 ILUAs.
 • 39 conservation agreements and indigenous management agreements.
 • 18 cultural heritage agreements.
 • 29 mining tenement agreements.
 • 67 other agreements (lease, licence, MOU).

Over 2017-18, six ILUAs were registered and five ILUAs were notified by the NNTT.  CYLC remains actively involved in 
the negotiation of other ILUAs and anticipates completion of several of these ILUAs in 2018-19.  

CYLC’s agreement coordinator is a legal officer who assists Traditional Owners to understand their rights and 
obligations under agreements and assists with minor dispute resolutions.  Over 2017-18, the agreement coordinator 
assisted Traditional Owners and entitled bodies to invoice, follow up and recover outstanding payments associated 
with agreements and entitlements under the Native Title Protection Conditions (NTPCs).  The agreement coordinator 
also assisted Traditional Owners to facilitate meetings of Traditional Owner implementation groups to ensure they 
were able to perform their obligations under agreements.

Cape York Road
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Future Acts Unit 
CYLC receives future act notifications (FANs) from State and Commonwealth Government agencies and other 
authorities which propose future acts such as the grant of leases, permits, licenses, and the construction of 
infrastructure or other acts which may impact on native title rights and interests.  CYLC supports Traditional Owners  
to express their rights under the NTA in relation to proposed future acts.

FANs received are reviewed by the Future Acts Unit for impact on native title rights and interests before being sent to 
Traditional Owners.  When requested, CYLC assists Traditional Owners to exercise their legal rights including the right 
to comment, to be consulted, to have objections heard, and to negotiate.

CYLC represents Traditional Owners in negotiations related to the proposed granting of mining leases which attract 
the right to negotiate, and large scale commercial mining or exploration negotiations involving the proposed grant or 
extension of mining or exploration rights on Aboriginal freehold land and non-freehold land.  One 2017-18 example 
was CYLC’s support for Ankamuthi people in the negotiation of an agreement with Metro Mining for native title 
consent for a mining project.  The agreement allowed for the amalgamation of two existing agreements with Gulf 
Minerals and Cape Alumina.

In order to provide advice on future acts to Traditional Owners, CYLC has developed expertise in mapping and GIS 
capabilities which enables it to provide extensive mapping and information services.

Over 2017-18 CYLC received 264 FANs for various proposed future acts.  On average, each FAN is addressed to 2-3 
bodies.  FANs received are shown in Table 4.

In addition to responding to FANs, over 2017-18 CYLC:

 • Refined and further developed detailed procedures and protocols for dealing with future act matters, and  
  assisted Traditional Owners to exercise their rights with the view to obtaining the best possible outcome for  
  Traditional Owners.

 • Represented Traditional Owners in exploration negotiations and for small-scale mining negotiations, e.g.  
  section 31 NTA ‘good faith’ negotiations.

 • Represented Traditional Owners and finalised the negotiations for the amalgamation of two major mining  
  projects for the Cape Alumina and Gulf Alumina bauxite projects in the Skardon River area.

 • Represented Traditional Owners in submissions made to government about environmental and cultural  
   heritage concerns relating to mineral exploration and the grant of major mining projects. 

Jardine River Ferry
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National	Parks	and	State	Land	Reform	Unit 
During 2017-18 CYLC continued its role in supporting Traditional Owners in negotiations as part of the Cape York 
Peninsula Tenure Resolution Program, which is administered by Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation as a 
Queensland State Government funded project through Balkanu’s National Parks and State Land Reform Unit.  This 
project transfers the land tenure of identified pastoral properties, national parks and other protected areas to 
Aboriginal freehold tenure under the ownership and management of Aboriginal land trusts and corporations, whilst 
also ensuring the protection of areas with high cultural and natural values.

CYLC lawyers and Balkanu staff support the participation of native title parties in ILUA negotiations with the 
Queensland Government’s Cape York Tenure Resolution Branch to enable land transfers to Aboriginal freehold tenure.

Figure 4 shows a map of completed State Land Dealings and National Park Transfers.  In summary, under the State Land 
Dealing and National Park Transfers program since 2000:

 • Approximately 2,100,000ha of land has been transferred to jointly managed Cape York Peninsula  
  Aboriginal Land (CYPAL) National Parks.

 • Approximately 1,500,000ha of land (mainly ex-pastoral leases) has been transferred to Aboriginal  
  freehold outside of National Parks.

 • Just over 300,000ha of land has been declared as Nature Refuges.  

Aboriginal freehold outside of National Parks provides a secure tenure for Aboriginal land trusts and corporations to 
pursue economic development opportunities through land uses such as tourism, grazing and cropping.  

Although no transfers occurred under the program in 2017-18, CYLC and Balkanu progressed the following State Land 
Dealings:  

 • The Thayanaku River SLD (incorporating Jardine River National Park, Jardine River Resources Reserve and  
  Heathlands Resources Reserve) continued to progress toward completion.

 • The Orchid Creek SLD (incorporating the former Orchid Creek Pastoral Lease) commenced in November 2017.

 • A proposal for additional lots to be included in the Cooktown Aggregation (incorporating Endeavour River  
  National Park, Mount Cook National Park and areas within and around the Cooktown township) was sent to  
  the State Government in November 2017.  No response was received during the reporting period and the  
  negotiations are yet to commence. 



Figure 4 – Map showing Cape York Land Tenure, including State Land Dealings Transfers.  
Aboriginal freehold land shown in yellow
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Native	Title	Determinations 
Over 2017-18, three Native Title Determinations were made in the CYLC Representative Area (Table 1).

Summary	of	Cape	York	determinations,	NTDAs,	ILUAs,	FANs	and	SLD	transfers

Short name Case name Determination 
Date Determination	outcome

Northern Cape York 
Group #3

Anderson on behalf of the Northern Cape 
York #3 Native Title Claim  
Group v State of Queensland

26/07/2017 Native title exists in the 
entire determination area

Ankamuthi People Woosup on behalf of the Ankamuthi People 
#1 v State of Queensland 26/07/2017 Native title exists in the 

entire determination area

Ankamuthi People #2 Woosup on behalf of the Ankamuthi People 
#2 v State of Queensland 26/07/2017 Native title exists in the 

entire determination area

Native	Title	Determination	Applications 
Over 2017-18, CYLC commissioned anthropological research when necessary and provided legal services to manage 
the NTDAs active in the CYLC Representative Area (Table 2).

Application	name Date	filed Tribunal	file	number Federal	Court	file	
number

Date	claim	
entered on 
register

Cape York United  
Number 1 Claim 12/12/2014 QC2014/008 QUD673/2014 06/02/2015

Northern Peninsula Sea Claim 27/02/2017 QC2017/002 QUD114/2017 Not yet 
registered

North Eastern Peninsula  
Sea Claim Group 27/02/2017 QC2017/003 QUD115/2017 Not yet 

registered

Table 2 – Cape York Representative Area NTDA Status

Archer River Crossing

Table 1 – Cape York Representative Area Native Title Determinations
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Indigenous Land Use Agreements 
Over 2017-18, seven Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUAs) were registered with the National Native Title Tribunal 
(NNTT) for the Cape York Representative Area (Table 3).  CYLC was involved in the negotiation of all of these ILUAs. 

ILUA name ILUA type Subject	matter(s) Tribunal	file	
number

Date 
registered

Topsy Creek Barge Ramp  
Project ILUA Body Corporate

Infrastructure, 
Development, 
Transport

QI2018/001 18/05/2018 

Wuthathi Land Transfer ILUA Area Agreement Government, Tenure 
resolution QI2016/061 07/03/2018 

Sandstone Western Land  
Transfer ILUA Area Agreement Government, Co-

management QI2016/047 21/02/2018 

Melsonby ILUA Area Agreement Government, 
Infrastructure QI2016/048 21/02/2018 

Bromley Land Transfer ILUA Body Corporate Access, Co-
management QI2017/015 30/01/2018 

Ergon Energy and Ankamuthi  
People ILUA Area Agreement

Energy, Access, 
Development, 
Infrastructure

QI2017/007 03/11/2017 

Peninsula Developmental Road ILUA Area Agreement Infrastructure, 
Government QI2016/049 11/07/2017

Table 3 – Cape York Representative Area ILUAs Registered

Cape York Representative Area Future Act Notices received 
Over 2017-18, 264 FANs were received by CYLC for the CYLC Representative Area (Table 4).

Future act FANs Received

Marine permits for scientific research, conduct of tourist programs, fishing, construction of 
mooring facilities & private pontoon 192

Application for a water permit 1

Scientific purposes permit under the Nature Conservation Act 1992 (Qld) 25

Construction of public works 2

Exploration permits for minerals 22

Mining leases 13

Grant of Perpetual Lease 1

Facilities for Service to public 8

Total 264

Table 4 - Cape York Representative Area Future Act notices received
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Strategic Outcomes Unit 
Over 2017-18 the CYLC Strategic Outcomes Unit engaged with proposed legislative and policy reforms relevant to Cape 
York Aboriginal peoples’ rights and interests in land and sea, to ensure the protection and promotion of their native 
title and other rights, interests and aspirations.

CYLC’s Strategic Outcomes Unit participated in multiple processes and made numerous submissions in response to 
proposed Commonwealth and State Government legislative and policy reforms.  Where appropriate, CYLC liaised with 
other Cape York regional organisations such as Balkanu and Cape York Partnerships, and other Queensland Native Title 
Representative Bodies, to ensure a coordinated approach and consensus position for submissions made to State and 
Commonwealth Governments.

CYLC’s policy engagement with the Queensland Government included:

 • Review and comment on the Land, Explosives and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2017 via  
  written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Nature Conservation (Special Wildlife Reserves) and Other Legislation  
  Amendment Bill 2018 via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Safer Waterways Bill 2018 via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Queensland Sustainable Fisheries Strategy via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Vegetation Management and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 2018  
  via written submission.

 • Participation in the Reef Wide Traditional Owner Workshop (May 2018. Palm Cove) and contribution  
  to policy development.

 • Participation in the preparation of the Cape York Water Resource Plan via written submission and  
  membership of the stakeholder working group.

 • Participation in the review of the Wet Tropics Management Plan 1998. 

CYLC’s policy engagement with the Commonwealth Government included:

 • Review and comment on the Future acts for Indigenous public housing discussion paper including the  
  sunset clause for NTA s24JAA via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Indigenous Land Corporation’s consultation discussion paper regarding the   
  Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act 2005 (Cth) via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Reforms to the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) Options Paper November 2017  
  via written submission.

 • Review and comment on GBRMPA’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Heritage Strategy for the Great  
  Barrier Reef Marine Park.

 • Review and comment on the Inquiry into the governance and operation of the Northern Australia  
  Infrastructure Facility via written submission.

 • Review and comment on the Carbon Credits (Carbon Farming Initiative) Amendment Bill 2017 (Cth) and  
  ongoing engagement with Aboriginal stakeholders and the Clean Energy Regulator to promote Aboriginal  
  opportunities in carbon projects.

 • Review and comment on the Marine Reserves Management Planning process via written submission.
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The Strategic Outcomes Unit also continued to provide proactive assistance to traditional owner and other Aboriginal 
groups, and policy advice to governments on a range of other issues including:

 • Improvement of the land administration system, land tenure, home ownership and related issues in  
  Aboriginal local government areas.

 • An effective platform for development on Aboriginal land through appropriate land tenure, land transfer and  
  ownership, land use planning, native title consent and other arrangements.

 • Project management of CYLC’s support for traditional owners in negotiation of town ILUAs, which provide  
  simplified processes for native title consent associated with development in Aboriginal towns.

 • Advice and assistance to resolve issues associated with the exercise of native title on Aboriginal freehold land.

 • Advocacy for the transfer of transferrable land to Aboriginal freehold.

 • Advocacy and advice about the grant of leases under the Aboriginal Land Act 1991 (Qld).

 • Advice about the grant of lease entitlements under the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Land Holding  
  Act 2013 (Qld)

 • Support for Cape York regional organisations in the implementation of the Cape York Welfare Reform trial,  
  particularly in relation to home ownership and economic development on Aboriginal land.

Community	Relations	Unit
PBC Support Unit
There are 13 RNTBCs/PBCs in the Cape York Land Council’s representative area:

 • Abm Elgoring Ambung Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Kowanyama.

 • Bromley Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Lockhart River.

 • Dhubbi Warra Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Hope Vale.

 • Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Hope Vale.

 • Ipima Ikaya Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in the Northern Peninsula Area.

 • Jabalbina Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Mossman.

 • Kuuku Ya’u Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Lockhart River.

 • Mokwiri Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Weipa.

 • Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Aurukun.

 • Seven Rivers Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Bamaga.

 • Thaa-Nguigarr Strathgordon Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Pormpuraaw.

 • Walmbaar Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC based in Hope Vale.

 • Wuthathi Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC for the Shelburne Bay area.

Over 2017-18, the CYLC PBC Support Unit (PBCSU) continued to offer a suite of support services to these corporations 
assisting in the delivery of support services across five key themes:

 1. Compliance.

 2. Training.

 3. Access to planning, legal and mediation services.

 4. Financial management.

 5. Economic development.
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Activities within these themes include:

 • Compliance assistance (e.g. Directors’ meetings, AGMs and membership drives).

 • Governance training.

 • Constitutional advice.

 • Day-to-day financial management.

 • Financial management training.

 • Assistance with auditing.

 • Assistance with funding and economic development proposals.

 • Access to legal and other accredited advisors.

 • Access to Jawun secondees.

 • Mediation.

Nearly all of the 13 RNTBCs in the CYLC’s jurisdiction have participated in transitional planning.  Three corporations 
demonstrate a degree of capacity and the capability to operate with a high degree of autonomy.  The remaining 
10 RNTBCs still require significant support to help them meet their compliance obligations under the Corporations 
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 administered by the Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations 
(ORIC).  

Governance training with Shane Carrol and RNTBC Directors is always popular and very relevant to building an 
informed and knowledgeable base of RNTBC Directors.  As RNTBCs begin to hold money in trust (eg mining royalties 
and carbon credits) there is also a growing need to assist RNTBCs and Traditional Owners with developing financial 
governance structures including investment and distribution strategies.

Economic development is always an aspiration of RNTBCs, having taken the arduous and protracted legal process 
to have their native title rights recognised.  There are too few examples of exclusive native title, where decisions 
for country can be made without the need to consider the rights of other interest holders, such as lease holding 
pastoralists.  Nor, unfortunately is it always straight forward, as the layers of Commonwealth, State and local 
government rules and regulations often stymie potential economic activity.  However small, successful, initiatives are 
emerging such as camping at Kowanyama (www.kowcamp.com).  

Each year campers make the trip to Kowanyama to fish and stay at designated sites managed by the Abm Elgoring 
Ambung RNTBC.  Visitors used to send their cash or cheques to book their favourite spots but the risks of losing the 
money or double-booking a site were too great.  The RNTBC, with the assistance of the RNTBCSU, designed an on-line 
booking website where visitors can identify their spot’s availability, click on the dates they want to stay and pay to 
confirm the booking.

Finally, our affiliation with the Jawun Indigenous Corporate Partnerships program brings so much talent and expertise 
to our remote communities.  The work these dedicated people do during their short 5-week placement significantly 
benefits the growth and development of RNTBCs in Cape York.
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Performance	analysis
The Cape York United Number 1 Claim will continue to be at the centre of CYLC’s effort over 2018-19.  To support 
and inform current NTDAs and the lodging of future NTDAs, CYLC continues with anthropological research.  CYLC has 
developed arrangements with experienced native title consultant anthropologists who are conducting research and 
providing anthropological advice and assistance.  CYLC will continue to collate Cape York anthropological information 
to inform future dealings on country.

Responding to Future Act Notifications (FANs) is also an increasing activity for CYLC as a result of the Cape York United 
Number 1 Claim, and as land users become increasingly compliant with NTA processes, as land use on Cape York 
intensifies, and as more future acts are proposed. Correlated with this trend is the need for CYLC to become more 
involved in agreement-making through ILUAs and in cultural heritage protection and management processes, as 
cultural heritage clearance processes often accompany future acts.

However, as more claims are determined and RNTBCs established on Cape York, CYLC recognises that it must play 
an essential role to support RNTBCs’ functionality so that native title holders have legally compliant and capable 
organisations to represent their interests and achieve benefits from native title determinations.  If RNTBCs are not 
functional there is a significant risk that determinations will not result in real, lasting benefits to native title holders, 
and the substantial investment of effort and resources in native title determinations will not achieve the objective to 
improve the lives of Aboriginal people.  CYLC continues to lead the trend towards support for RNTBCs in the post-
determination environment, with delivery of this support through a dedicated RNTBC Support Unit.

There is also a significant social and political trend towards supporting Aboriginal people to escape welfare 
dependence and engage in Australia’s mainstream economy, including in remote areas such as Cape York.  Realising 
the economic potential of native title and Aboriginal land is considered one of the main mechanisms to achieve 
this outcome on Cape York.  CYLC is ahead of this trend through its support for the Cape York Welfare Reform 
agenda, advocacy for policy reform to support economic participation such as through engaging in Developing 
Northern Australia activities, and working in partnership with organisations such as Balkanu Cape York Development 
Corporation.  

CYLC will engage in processes to share our understandings developed through efforts to support economic activity 
on Cape York, including understanding of the interactions between land tenure, land ownership, native title, land use 
planning, organisational and individual capacities and finance.  CYLC is keen to continue to work with the Australian 
and Queensland Governments on land reform initiatives that provide economic development opportunities for Cape 
York Aboriginal people.

An emerging trend with potential to create a significant area of new service delivery for Cape York traditional owners 
is assistance with compensation claims for the loss or impairment of native title rights and interests.  The Northern 
Territory’s Timber Creek native title compensation decision in August 2016 provided an example of how invalid native 
title extinguishment or impairment may be compensated on just terms.  

There are numerous acts on Cape York which may be compensable, such as future acts performed invalidly in the 
past by state and local governments and other land users, and the use of NTA s24JAA to create interests in land for 
the State.  To date, CYLC has given NTDAs a higher priority than compensation claims.  However, priorities may be 
reconsidered after further consideration of the potential for litigated claims for the loss or impairment of native title 
rights and interests, and the potential quantum of compensation that may be available.

The NTA and Program Funding Agreement provide CYLC with powers and resources to adequately address most 
core activities such as supporting NTDAs, responding to FANs, and the negotiation of ILUAs and other agreements.  
However, these core activities are on an increasing trend as native title momentum on Cape York increases.  Additional 
resources will be required by CYLC to continue to provide adequate support and services.

More significantly, demand for CYLC functions which do not receive core funding, such as comprehensive support for 
RNTBCs, cultural heritage mapping and protection, ILUA implementation, secure document archiving, participation 
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In early 2017, CYLC had commenced discussions with RNTBCs about the future services that Aboriginal land owners 
wanted to create opportunities with their land.  The Aboriginal people of Cape York wanted to secure greater 
community involvement in local decision making.  This included decision-making at government level, as supported 
by a pledge from Federal Minister for Indigenous Affairs Senator Nigel Scullion, to give communities 75% weighting in 
decisions related to federal funding of programs affecting them.

At the three-day summit, attendees heard from local and government leaders, joined discussion forums, and 
workshopped solutions for regional and sub-regional development.  Engagement was high, as expressed by Jasmine 
Accoom who represented the community of Lockhart River:

“We’re trying to move forward. So, I agree with the Cape York united movement 
[expressed at the Summit] and I want everyone to work together.”

Djarragun Summit

Pama Futures
Cape York has long been known for its strong leadership and people. The region’s determination to drive change in 
communities has seen the establishment and development of many organisations and policies dedicated to systemic, 
region-wide change.

In August 2017, over 200 leaders and community members from across the Cape gathered at the Djarragun College 
Wilderness Centre, near Cairns, for a Cape York Summit.  The idea was to hold a grassroots engagement forum to 
propose a new direction for the region and hear community concerns and priorities.

in Aboriginal land transfers and management and participation in policy development, is also increasing.  CYLC’s 
performance of these functions must also be adequately supported if the full benefits of native title are to be achieved 
and the lives of Aboriginal people improved.

Despite these operational challenges CYLC’s expenditure to perform its statutory functions was consistent with the 
outputs budget, and no significant variations were required between planned and actual budget expenditures.   
CYLC also remained compliant with all financial reporting requirements, and no formal complaints were received 
during 2017-18. 



352017-2018 | Cape York Land Council Annual Report

Robinson Ropeyarn and Des Bowen at Djarragun Summit

Approach

To develop Pama Futures, long-term Cape York supporter Boston Consulting Group and a number of Jawun secondees 
worked with Indigenous representatives at a series of co-design workshops, community consultations and two 
Summits, to develop an initial business case for land, empowerment and economic development. This business 
case sought out viable Indigenous-led economic opportunities within the region that could be established within 
communities to create growth through employment and development.

Three clear ‘streams’ were identified across all regions:

 • Land rights/reform – the need for direct community engagement and decision making or ‘campfire’  
  governance specific to sub-regions.
 • Empowerment – identified sub-regional priorities, established by community to inaugurate ‘campfire’  
  governance and direct community involvement in service provision.
 • Economic development – sustainable business and industry opportunities, tribal wealth and investment  
  ready tenure.

The result of the summit was a reform agenda known as the Cape York Agenda 2.0.  This evolved further and is now 
known as the Pama Futures Agenda – an agenda owned by the people of Cape York.  It is supported by communities, 
leaders, and Indigenous organisations.  It has been supported by our corporate partners, through Jawun. 

It articulates ways to enable and support empowerment of communities with tools to transform themselves from 
places of disadvantage, marginalised from mainstream society and economy, to energetic places where Indigenous 
people can choose a valuable lifestyle with ongoing connection to culture, country and opportunities.  Within this, 
Indigenous-led decision making is key.  As Injinoo community member Tapee Salee put it: 

“Running your own affairs, that’s how you get empowerment.”
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Three dedicated stream leaders were appointed, and 12 sub-regions identified and established, along with community-
based leaders appointed as ‘sub-regional facilitators’ to represent Pama Futures.  

A series of design labs in Cairns were then held for each sub-region, attended by over 200 community members and 
leaders.  Jawun secondees from Westpac, APSC, KPMG, Qantas, Macquarie and Perpetual supported the planning, 
organisation and operation of these labs across three days.  They then travelled with each sub-region’s engagement 
team in the weeks following, visiting communities to gain feedback on the proposals put forward and answer 
questions.

Following these community consultations, a second summit was held in Palm Cove in December 2017, attended by 
over 400 community members and leaders.  There, 26 resolutions were adopted to guide Pama Futures through the 
next stage of implementation.

In early 2018, implementation began on a list of 34 deliverables related to the resolutions from the December 2017 
summit.

The Pama Futures work was nationally recognised in August 2018 when Minister Scullion spoke at the Garma Festival 
in North East Arnhem Land.   He invited Aboriginal groups from around the country to submit proposals to regain 
control of their land, service delivery and government funding as had the leadership of Cape York, stating:

“It is the single most exciting thing, and we’ve just got  
to try so hard to get this right and to provide the people  
of Cape York an opportunity to self-determine in every  

possible way, and I think this is just the road to success.”

Des Bowen and Dharrba Elders contributing to Summit discussions
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CYLC is incorporated under the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006.  The CYLC Constitution is 
registered with the Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations (ORIC).

Good corporate governance is achieved through strong working relationships and the separation of powers between 
CYLC’s elected arm - the Board of Directors, and CYLC’s executive arm – CYLC employees.  Corporate governance is 
strengthened via CYLC’s focus on creating a culture of fairness, transparency and accountability, with clearly defined 
roles, responsibilities and reporting for CYLC’s elected and executive arms.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting strategic direction, lobbying, leadership and the overall monitoring of 
operations.  The Board advises the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of its decisions as appropriate.  The CEO is responsible 
for the operations of CYLC and executes directions from the Board through the daily operations of CYLC.

Board of Directors
There are 17 communities within the Cape York representative area and a representative from each community is 
elected as a Director to sit on the CYLC Board of Directors.  Directors attend regular Board meetings to ensure that all 
17 communities have a voice in setting the direction of CYLC’s work.  If a Director is unavailable for a Board meeting, an 
Alternate Director with the same powers and responsibilities acts on the Director’s behalf.

Corporate Governance

CYLC Board of Directors 2017 - 18
Sitting:  Phyllis Yunkaporta
Standing L to R:  Rhonda Parry, Moira Bosen, George Ropeyarn, Ron Harrigan, Richie Ah Mat, Timothy McGreen, Aileen Gayle, Gavin 
Bassini, Clara Day, Aaron Teddy, Allan Creek, Noel Accoom, Herbert Bally and Bernard Charlie
Absent:  Karen Gibson and Frances Walker
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In accordance with the CYLC Constitution the Board of Directors has responsibility for:

 • Receiving and considering reports from the CEO and other members of the senior management team  
  regarding CYLC operations.
 • Monitoring the financial position of CYLC.
 • Deciding on allocation of resources to particular projects.
 • Being informed of changes or proposed changes to the way CYLC conducts its work.
 • Setting policy.
 • Dealing with complaints.
 • Other functions as accepted from time to time.

The Board of Directors meets at least four times per year and receives presentations from the CEO and senior 
management team on CYLC activities for the relevant period.  Reporting on all areas of CYLC operations takes place at 
each Board meeting, including reports from the CEO, Deputy CEO, PLO and Finance Manager.  After considering these 
reports the Board provides advice and direction to assist the senior management team to set priorities and identify 
actions which contribute to achieving the aims of CYLC and the Aboriginal people of Cape York.

Over 2017-18 the Board met on five occasions:

 • 14 August 2017 

 • 16 October 2017 (meeting by teleconference) 

 • 31 October 2017

 • 7-8 December 2017 

 • 10-12 April 2018.

Community Meetings	Eligible	 
To	Attend Director Meetings	

Attended Alternate	Director Meetings	
Attended

Aurukun 5 Jonathan Korkaktain 3 Alternate Director position unfilled -

Cairns 5 Richard Ah Mat 5 Fred Joseph 0

Coen 5 Allan Creek 5 Dion Creek 0

Cooktown 5 Director position unfilled - Alternate Director position unfilled -

Hope Vale 5 Timothy McGreen 5 Alternate Director position unfilled -

Injinoo 5 George Ropeyarn 0 Catherine Salee 1

Kowanyama 5 Aaron Teddy 4 Alternate Director position unfilled -

Laura 5 Aileen Gayle 0 Tracey Lowdown 0

Lockhart River 5 Noel Accoom 0 Rodney Accoom 3

Mapoon 5 Rhonda Parry 4 Maggie Peter 0

Mossman Gorge 5 Karen Gibson 5 Alternate Director position unfilled -

Napranum 5 Moira Bosen 4 Sheridan Doyle 0

New Mapoon 5 Clara Day 2 Geraldine York 2

Pormpuraaw 5 Herbert Bally 1 Devon Tarpencha 3

Port Stewart 5 Gavin Bassani 4 Alison Liddy 1

Umagico 5 Bernard Charlie 3 Gwendolyn Toby 0

Wujal Wujal 5 Francis Walker 3 Gerhardt Pearson 1

Table 5 - Board Member meeting attendance 2017-18
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Training	and	Development	of	Directors

In addition to the Code of Conduct, an important part of the induction for all Directors is training about CYLC Policy, 
Procedures and the Separation of Powers.  Directors are made aware of the responsibilities that accompany their 
position as part of the election process, and further training is part of their ongoing development.  Regular governance 
training is provided to assist the Directors to perform their duties in accordance with the principles of good governance 
and the responsibilities of an NTRB under the NTA, CATSIA, the CYLC Constitution and Program Funding Agreement.

Senior Management Team
 • The	Chief	Executive	Officer	(CEO),	Mr	Peter	Callaghan, is responsible for managing CYLC day-to-day operations.   
  The CEO is assisted by the senior management team, comprising the Deputy CEO, Principal Legal Officer,  
  Finance Manager and PBC Unit Manager, as well as CYLC staff

 • The	Deputy	CEO,	Ms	Kirstyne	Broderick, supports the CEO to manage CYLC day-to-day operations and maintain  
  strong working relationships with community members through management of the Community Relations  
  Unit.  The Deputy CEO and Community Relations Unit support community members in areas of RNTBC  
  compliance and capacity building, future acts management and public relations

 • The	Principal	Legal	Officer	(PLO),	Mr	Graham	O’Dell, is responsible for the effective management of the NTU  
  and its implementation of functions under the NTA, including NTDAs, FANs and ILUAs, and other functions,  
  including State Land Dealings and National Park transfers

 • The	Finance	Manager,	Mr	Darren	Sullivan, is responsible for the effective management of the Finance Unit.   
  The Finance Manager also manages the CYLC vehicle fleet and supports human resource management

 • The	Prescribed	Body	Corporate	(PBC)	Support	Unit	Manager,	Mr	Jim	Davis, is responsible for overseeing this  
  unit is operating in accordance with its vision – to support Traditional Owners to protect country and culture  
  through the creation and management of sustainable and enduring RNTBCs.  In addition to this, the PBC  
  Support Unit works closely with the Community Relations Unit to ensure community members are informed of  
  matters affecting them after a native title determination.

Risk management
To ensure a structured approach to managing uncertainty CYLC is vigilant with identifying, assessing, monitoring and 
implementing procedures to reduce the impact of risks to its operations.  Risk management is vitally important to 
ensure CYLC continues to be in a position to effectively represent the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York.

To ensure circumstances that could lead to negative outcomes for CYLC’s business do not occur, CYLC identifies 
possible risks as part of strategic planning and puts plans and strategies in place that minimise these risks.

Corporate	and	operational	planning
Consistent with requirements of the Program Funding Agreement to implement strategic directions and achieve 
desired outcomes outlined by the Board of Directors, CYLC prepares operational plans that set targets, detail activities, 
allocate resources and provide performance information.  All CYLC activities are related to the outcomes and outputs 
framework in the Operational Plans.

Preparation and implementation of CYLC Operational Plans are informed by the Federal Court Work Plans prepared 
by the CYLC Native Title Unit for each NTDA.  The Work Plans identify objectives and outputs to be achieved, in 
timeframes agreed with the Court.  The Work Plans are developed based on the priority status of each NTDA, so that 
resources are effectively and efficiently allocated.
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Financial	Management
Financial management is the responsibility of the CYLC Finance Manager and CEO.  Financial reports and matters 
of concern are routinely provided to the Board of Directors.  In addition, an independent financial audit of CYLC is 
undertaken soon after the end of each financial year and reported to the Board of Directors and CYLC membership.  
CYLC is very proud of its record in obtaining clean audits for the past eleven years.

Ethical	Standards
In addition to complying with the CYLC Code of Conduct, employees and Board of Directors follow other policies which 
reinforce the observation of high ethical standards.  There is a high level of awareness amongst staff of ethical issues 
and good practical application of that knowledge.  CYLC management also increases awareness of ethical behaviours 
by placing informative posters and other information around the workplace.

Weipa wetlands
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Figure 5 - CYLC  Reporting Structure

Corporate Services Report
The Deputy CEO, Kirstyne Broderick, supports the CEO and is responsible for the management of Corporate Services 
and the Community Relations Unit, encompassing:
 • Recruitment, retention and development of staff.
 • The development and support of corporate and regional partnerships.
In addition, the Deputy CEO works closely with the CEO to guide the direction of CYLC, ensuring its visions and values 
are upheld and aligned to the current organisational commitments and priorities.
The building of capabilities and the development of Indigenous staff (especially our emerging Cape York leaders) 
continues to be one of CYLC’s highest priorities.  In the past year, this focus has been demonstrated with training 
programs aimed at CYLC staff – building skills that will facilitate clear career pathways for movement into  
management roles.
CYLC has also begun the process of negotiating the new Single Enterprise Agreement, to come into effect in 2018.  This 
involves staff and management representatives negotiating an agreement that recognises budgetary constraints, but 
maintains CYLC’s ability to secure key personnel and to remain competitive in the recruiting environment. 

As at 30 June 2018, Cape York Land Council employed 35 staff, with half of staff being Indigenous.  The staff reporting 
structure of CYLC is detailed in Figure 5.

Cape	York	Land	Council	Reporting	Structure

Human Resources
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Table 6 – Total staff by category as at 30 June 2018

Indigenous Male Female Full	Time	/	 
Part Time Total

YEAR 15 – 
16

16 – 
17

17 – 
18

15 – 
16

16 – 
17

17 – 
18

15 – 
16

16 – 
17

17 – 
18

15 – 
16

16 – 
17

17 – 
18

15 – 
16

16 – 
17

17 – 
18

Senior  
Management Team

2 3 2 4 5 4 1 1 2 4 

1 P/T

6

 

6 5 6 6

Professional Staff 0 0 0 4 6 4 3 4 5 6

2 P/T

9 

1 P/T

8

1 P/T

8 10 9

Administrative Staff 13 16 16 2 2 17 20 17 11

6 P/T

14

6 P/T 
2 Cas

14

5 P/T

17 22 19

Field Staff 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1
Trainee Staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 15 19 18 8 13 10 22 25 25 31 38 35 31 38 35

Future	Direction	
Supporting opportunities for the future is a priority for the corporate services and community relations arm of the 
organisation. To achieve this, CYLC will continue to work closely with Traditional Owner groups to identify future 
opportunities, and where possible support progress from ideas to economic opportunities that will see employment, 
training and growth for communities.

A key priority for 2018-19 and beyond will be working with community members to develop innovative approaches 
and deliver training that will result in clear career pathways to support the vision of Indigenous-owned businesses 
across Cape York.

The Cape York United Number 1 Claim will put Traditional Owners in a position to control their future.  CYLC has a 
responsibility to ensure it is supporting these Traditional Owners with business mentoring and training programs that 
will support the achievement of successful Indigenous-owned businesses in each community.

We are confident that the discussions to date across the PDR and other ILUA negotiations demonstrates the State’s 
ongoing commitment to this shared vision.

Staff	overview
Table 6 demonstrates CYLC’s ongoing commitment to the employment and development of a diverse workforce.  
Employment figures for 2015-16 and 2016-17 are also included in Table 6 to show the trend in CYLC’s workforce.
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Over 2017-18 CYLC utilised the services of a wide range of legal, anthropological, land management and planning 
consultants to provide specific expert services and advice in relation to NTRB functions that were not otherwise 
available from CYLC staff.

The CEO and PLO approved the engagement of all consultants for native title work to ensure appropriate standards are 
maintained, that consultants’ service costs are within the budget, and that they represent good value for money.

The employment of consultants is documented by a contract of appointment which sets out the services to be 
performed, payment rates, period of employment and the rights and responsibilities of the consultant.  Copies of all 
contract records for each consultant engaged are maintained.  If professional consultants, particularly anthropologists, 
have particular knowledge and expertise in a geographic area or in relation to a claimant group they are engaged 
directly and tenders are not called.  Each consultant’s performance is monitored by the PLO and the CEO who report 
on the effectiveness of consultancies to the Board of Directors.

Under the Program Funding Agreement CYLC is required to advertise annually for consultants and maintain a 
consultants’ register.

CYLC engaged the services of 45 consultants on projects to a total value of $1,662,845 over 2017. Table 7 shows a 
breakdown of 2017-18 consultant costs.

Payment Range No. of Contracts Total	Cost

Less than $30,000 25 $ 321,384

More than $30,000 17 $ 1,341,461

Total 45 $1,662,845

Table 7: 2017 – 18 consultant costs

Consultants	&	Competitive	Tendering

Bloomfield River Wujal Wujal
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal 
Corporation (the “Corporation”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Operating and financial review
The Corporation’s operations involve the advocacy of land issues on behalf of the Aboriginal people in the Cape 
York Peninsula region. The Corporation’s main projects during this financial year include land advocacy work in 
the North West Cape, Northern Peninsula Area in relation to the continuation and development of mining and 
exploration activities. The results from operations and financial position of the Corporation outlined in the 
financial statements are consistent with the expectations of directors.

The net surplus from ordinary activities amounted to $127,171 (2017: deficit $115,589).  

State of affairs
There were no significant changes in the Corporation’s state of affairs during the year.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Corporation during the course of the financial year continue to be the advocacy of 
land issues on behalf of Aboriginal people in the Cape York Peninsula region.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Corporation during the year.

Events subsequent to reporting date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any matter or 
circumstance that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Corporation, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation, in future financial years.

Likely developments 
The directors envisage that the Corporation will continue its existing operations, subject to the receipt of future 
funding from government and other sources.

Environmental regulation
The Corporation’s operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulations under 
either Commonwealth or State legislation.  However, the Board believes that the Corporation has adequate 
systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those 
environmental requirements as they apply to the Corporation.

Distributions 
The Corporation’s constitution precludes it from distributing any surpluses to members.  Accordingly, no 
distributions were paid, recommended or declared by the Corporation during the year.
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Directors’ meetings 
The number of directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Corporation 
during the financial year are:

Community Name Special responsibilities

No of 
meeting

s
attended

No of 
meeting
s held*

Cairns Richard Ah Mat Chairperson 6 6
Cairns Fred Joseph Alternate Director - 6
Aurukun Jonathan Korkaktain Director 3 6
Coen Allan Creek Director 6 6
Coen Dion Creek Alternate Director - 6
Hope Vale Tim McGreen Director 5 6
Injinoo Catherine Salee Alternate Director 2 6
Injinoo George Ropeyarn Deputy Chairperson - 6
Kowanyama Aaron Teddy Director 5 6
Laura Aileen Gale Director - 6
Laura Tracey Lowdown Alternate Director - 6
Lockhart River Noel Accoom Director - 6
Lockhart River Rodney Accoom Alternate Director 4 6 
Mapoon Rhonda Parry Director 4 6
Mapoon Maggie Peter Alternate Director - 6
Mossman Karen Gibson Director 5 6
Napranum Moira Bosen Director 5 6 
Napranum Sheridan Doyle Alternate Director - 6
New Mapoon Clara Day Director 2 6
New Mapoon Geraldine Yorke Alternate Director 1 6
Pormpuraaw Devon Tarpencha Alternate Director 4 6
Pormpuraaw Herbert Bally Director 1 6
Port Stewart Gavin Bassani Director 4 6
Port Stewart Alison Liddy Alternate Director 1 6
Umagico Bernard Charlie Director 4 6
Umagico Gwen Toby Alternate Director - 6
Wujal Wujal Francis Walker Director 2 6
Wujal Wujal Gerhardt Pearson Alternate Director 1 6 

*Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.

Secretary 
Kirstyne Broderick was appointed to the position of secretary on 1 July 2007.

Proceedings on behalf of the Corporation
During the year, no person has made application for leave in respect of the Corporation under section 169-5 of 
the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 (the “Act”).

During the year, no person has brought or intervened in proceedings on behalf of the Corporation with leave 
under section 169-5 of the Act.
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Cairns Corporate Tower
15 Lake Street
Cairns  QLD  4870

Correspondence to: 
PO Box 7200
Cairns QLD 4870

T +61 7 4046 8888
F +61 7 4051 0116
E info.cairns@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Auditor’s independence
declaration

Auditor’s independence declaration
to the directors of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation

In accordance with the requirements of section 339-50 of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) 
Act 2006, as lead auditor for the audit of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation for the year ended 
30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations (Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 in relation to the audit; and

• No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

H A Wilkes
Principal – Audit & Assurance

Cairns,   4 October 2018 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms,
as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and 
each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited 
ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Statement of comprehensive income 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
2018 2017 

Note $ $ 
Income

Revenue from government sources 5a 9,645,774 6,334,383
Revenue from non-government sources  5b 970,006 990,937
Net gain / (loss) on disposal of fixed assets 27,811 -

10,643,591 7,325,320

Expenses

Employee expenses 6 4,257,000 3,592,018
Supplier expenses 6 6,090,791 3,693,125
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 6 188,632 176,959

10,536,423 7,462,102

Results from operating activities 107,168 (136,782) 

Finance income 20,003 21,193

Net surplus / (deficit) before tax 127,171 (115,589) 
Income tax expense 4e - -

Net surplus / (deficit) 127,171 (115,589) 

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 127,171 (115,589)

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position

As at 30 June 2018 
2018 2017 

Note $ $ 
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 2,937,062 5,187,291
Trade and other receivables 242,127 271,559
Prepayments 18,298 42,919
Accrued income 81,213 -

Total current assets  3,278,700 5,501,769

Property, plant and equipment 8 478,197 511,031

Total non-current assets 478,197 511,031

Total assets  3,756,897 6,012,800

Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Suppliers and employees 9 1,040,027 1,340,892
Employee benefits 11 168,301 138,780
Grants 5a 1,941,643 4,043,830

Total current liabilities  3,149,971 5,523,502

Employee benefits  11 5,597 15,140

Total non-current liabilities 5,597 15,140

Total liabilities  3,155,568 5,538,642

Net assets 601,329 474,158

Equity 
Revaluation reserve 13 482,739 482,739
Retained surplus / (deficit) 118,590 (8,581)

Total equity 601,329 474,158

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
Revaluation 

reserve
Retained 
surplus

Total 
equity

$ $ $

Attributable to members of the Corporation

Balance at 1 July 2016 482,739 107,008 589,747

Total comprehensive income 
Net deficit - (115,589) (115,589)
Total other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income - (115,589) (115,589)

Balance at 30 June 2017 482,739 (8,581) 474,158

Balance at 1 July 2017 482,739 (8,581) 474,158

Total comprehensive income 
Net surplus - 127,171 127,171
Total other comprehensive income - - -

Total comprehensive income - 127,171 127,171

Balance at 30 June 2018 482,739 118,590 601,329

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
2018 2017 

Note $ $ 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash receipts from funding bodies 7,543,587 9,200,758 
Cash receipts from services provided 942,845 865,348
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (10,628,678) (7,112,318) 

Cash generated from operating activities (2,142,246) 2,953,788
Interest received 20,003 21,193

Net cash from operating activities 14 (2,122,243) 2,974,981 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (188,026) (11,618) 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  60,040 -

Net cash used in investing activities (127,986) (11,618) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,250,229) 2,963,363

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 7 5,187,291 2,223,928

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 7 2,937,062 5,187,291

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Reporting entity
Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (the “Corporation”) is domiciled in Australia.  The Corporation’s 
registered office is at 32 Florence Street, Cairns, Queensland. The Corporation is a not-for-profit entity and 
primarily is involved in indigenous land advocacy matters. 

2 Basis of accounting 

a Statement of compliance 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (“AASBs”) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006.
The financial statements of the Corporation do not comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.  They were authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on the date shown on the directors’ declaration.

b Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

c Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional currency.

d Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of the Corporation’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

Judgements

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are included in Note 5a – Revenue from government sources.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Management is not aware of any assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year. 

e Economic dependency and going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

At 30 June 2018, current liabilities amounted to $3,149,971 (2017: $5,523,502) and current assets amounted to 
$3,278,700 (2017: $5,501,769) leaving a surplus in working capital of $128,729 (2017: deficit $21,733). 
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The Corporation has had a working capital shortfall for many years. Because the Corporation is a not-for-profit 
entity and the majority of its revenues are derived from grants which must be expended on specific future 
projects, there has been little opportunity for the Corporation to remedy its working capital shortfall. The
Corporation received approval from DPM&C to exclude revenues and expenses relating to non-DPM&C funded 
activities from its 2017-18 financial reporting and to apply any surplus to improve the Corporation’s liquidity 
position. The result was that the Corporation’s working capital showed a surplus at 30 June 2018. Given that the 
Corporation has positive working capital as at 30 June 2018, it is unlikely that the Corporation will ask DPM&C to 
exclude revenues and expenses relating to non-DPM&C funded activities in the future. 

Accordingly, the ability of the Corporation to continue its operations at current levels and continue as a going 
concern is dependent upon future ongoing funding and support being provided by government funding bodies. 
Such funding and support from DPM&C, the Corporation’s main funding provider, has been secured at least until 
the year ending 30 June 2020. The Corporation has no reason to believe that funding will not continue after this 
date. Therefore, the directors are confident that the Corporation will continue as a going concern for the 
foreseeable future.

3 New and amended accounting standards

a New and amended standards adopted

The Corporation has adopted all the amendments to Australian Accounting Standards issued by the AASB which 
are relevant to, and effective for, the Corporation’s financial statements for the annual period beginning 1 July 
2017.  None of the amendments have had a significant impact on the Corporation. 

b Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 
2017, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  The following new standards may 
have an impact on the Corporation’s financial statements, although any such impact has not yet been assessed:

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments becomes mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
(with early adoption permitted) and includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of
financial instruments, a new revised credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets and new
general hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and
derecognition of financial instruments from AASB 139.

• AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-profit Entities and AASB
2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-
profit Entities become mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  AASB 15 will
replace AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and a number of Interpretations.  AASB
2016-8 sets out Australian requirements and provides guidance for not-for-profit entities in applying AASB 9
and AASB 15, and AASB 1058 will replace AASB 1004 Contributions.  Together, they establish a
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.

• AASB 16 Leases becomes mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 (with early
adoption permitted) and in essence requires a lessee to:

− recognise all lease assets and liabilities (including those currently classed as operating leases) on the
statement of financial position, initially measured at the present value of unavoidable lease payments;

− recognise amortisation of lease assets and interest on lease liabilities as expenses over the lease term;
and

− separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and
interest (which entities can choose to present within operating or financing activities consistent with
presentation of any other interest paid) in the statement of cash flows.

The Corporation does not plan to adopt these standards early.
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4 Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

a Revenue from non-government sources

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at 
the reporting date.  The stage of completion is assessed based on surveys of work performed.

b Government grants and other contributions of assets

Government grants and other contributions of assets are accounted for in accordance with AASB 1004 
Contributions based on whether they are reciprocal or non-reciprocal in nature and are measured at the fair 
value of the contributions received or receivable.

Reciprocal transfers are those where approximately equal value is exchanged in the transfer between the 
transferor (grantor) and the transferee (grantee).  Non-reciprocal transfers are those where equal value is not 
exchanged.  

i Reciprocal transfers

Where grants and other contributions are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised over the 
term of the funding arrangements.  The Corporation currently does not have any reciprocal grants.

ii Non-reciprocal transfers

Revenue from a non-reciprocal grant that is not subject to conditions is recognised when the Corporation obtains 
control of the funds, economic benefits are probable and the amount can be measured reliably. Where a grant 
may be required to be repaid if certain conditions are not satisfied, a liability is recognised at year end to the 
extent that conditions remain unsatisfied. 

Where the Corporation receives a non-reciprocal contribution of an asset from a government or other party for no 
or nominal consideration, the asset is recognised at fair value and a corresponding amount of revenue is 
recognised. 

c Finance income and finance costs

Finance income includes interest income which is recognised using the effective interest method.

d Employee benefits 

i Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid if the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future 
payments is available.  

iii Other long-term employee benefits

The Corporation’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  That benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in expenses in the period in which they arise.
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e Income tax

The Corporation has been granted exemption from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997.

f Property, plant and equipment

i Recognition and measurement

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured and recognised at cost. Cost includes expenditures 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the 
equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Plant and equipment and motor vehicles are subsequently measured on the revaluation basis, at fair value, in 
accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.  Leasehold improvements are measured at cost.

Property, plant and equipment assets measured at fair value are revalued, with sufficient regularity, so as to 
ensure that the carrying amount of each class of asset does not materially differ from its fair value at the 
reporting date.  This is achieved by engaging independent, professionally qualified valuers to determine the fair 
value for each class of property, plant and equipment assets. This process involves the valuer physically sighting 
a representative sample of the Corporation’s assets across all asset classes and making their own assessments 
of the condition of the assets at the date of inspection. The regularity of independent valuations depends upon 
the volatility of movements in market values for the relevant assets.

Further details in relation to valuers, the methods of valuation and the key assumptions used are disclosed in 
Note 8. 

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognized 
as an expense.  A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it 
exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation reserve of that asset class.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in income or expenses.  

ii Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Corporation.

iii Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual 
values using the straight line basis over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in expenses. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Corporation will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

• Leasehold improvements 5 - 10 years
• Plant and equipment 4 years
• Motor vehicles 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.
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g Financial instruments

i Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – Recognition and derecognition 

The Corporation initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they have originated.  All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date.

The Corporation derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset.  Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Corporation is recognised as a separate 
asset or liability. 

The Corporation derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

ii Non-derivative financial assets – Measurement 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

iii Non-derivative financial liabilities – Measurement 

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

h Impairment

i Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of 
impairment.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider otherwise, or 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.  

The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and 
receivables) at a specific asset level.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in expenses and reflected in an allowance account.  When 
the Corporation considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are 
written off.  If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases, and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed through other income.
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ii Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated.  

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  As the 
Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, value in use is the current replacement cost of an asset as the future 
economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and 
as the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits.   

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in expenses.  

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

i Provisions 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised as finance costs.

j Leases

i Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Corporation determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease.  

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Corporation separates payments 
and other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 
basis of their relative fair values.  If the Corporation concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 
separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 
underlying asset.  Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on 
the liability is recognised using the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate.

ii Leased assets

Assets held by the Corporation under leases which transfer to the Corporation substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured at an amount equal to 
the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Corporation’s 
statement of financial position. 

iii Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of 
the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance costs and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance costs are allocated to each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  
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2018 2017 
$ $ 

5 Revenue

a Revenue from government sources

Grants received – DPM&C 7,543,587 9,200,758
Grant balances at 1 July 4,043,830 1,177,455
Grant balances at 30 June (1,941,643) (4,043,830) 

9,645,774 6,334,383

b Revenue from non-government sources

Recoverable income 672,441 740,178
Reimbursements received – State land dealings 297,565 245,259
Donations - 5,500

970,006 990,937

6 Expenses 
Employee expenses

Wages and salaries 3,064,524 2,486,153
Superannuation 415,195 361,392
Leave and other entitlements 647,083 591,432
Staff professional development 34,736 60,184
Fringe benefits tax 17,957 6,034
Other employee expenses 77,505 86,823

4,257,000 3,592,018

Supplier expenses
Motor vehicle 185,050 157,617
Rent and occupancy costs 181,210 182,127
Service expenses 3,356,375 2,066,249
Supplies 424,567 325,369
Travel expenses 1,880,656 961,763
Summit purchases 62,933 -

6,090,791 3,693,125

Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Leasehold improvements 69,060 69,029
Plant and equipment 43,446 41,117
Motor vehicles 76,126 66,813

188,632 176,959
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2018 2017 
$ $ 

7 Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances 2,934,062 5,184,291
Cash on hand 3,000 3,000

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 2,937,062 5,187,291

8 Property, plant and equipment 

a Reconciliation of carrying amount 
Leasehold 

improvements
Cost

Plant and 
equipment
Fair value

Motor vehicles
Fair value Total

$ $ $ $
Gross asset value
Balance at 1 July 2016 575,170 172,730 334,064 1,081,964
Additions - 11,618 - 11,618
Disposals - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2017 575,170 184,348 334,064 1,093,582

Balance at 1 July 2017 575,170 184,348 334,064 1,093,582
Additions - 29,057 158,969 188,026
Disposals - - (75,600) (75,600)
Balance at 30 June 2018 575,170 213,405 417,433 1,206,008

Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 July 2016 316,151 38,458 50,983 405,592
Depreciation for the year 69,029 41,117 66,813 176,959
Disposals - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2017 385,180 79,575 117,796 582,551

Balance at 1 July 2017 385,180 79,575 117,796 582,551
Depreciation for the year 69,060 43,446 76,126 188,632
Disposals - - (43,372) (43,372)
Balance at 30 June 2018 454,240 123,021 150,550 727,811

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2016 259,019 134,272 283,081 676,372
At 30 June 2017 189,990 104,773 216,268 511,031
At 30 June 2018 120,930 90,384 266,883 478,197
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b Fair value measurements

The following table presents the Corporation’s assets measured and recognised at fair value. 

2018 2017 
$ $ 

Recurring fair value
Plant and equipment 90,384 104,773
Motor vehicles 266,883 216,268

357,267 321,041

The most recent comprehensive valuation of plant and equipment and motor vehicles was carried out as at 
30 June 2015. The valuation was conducted by Mr Matthew Currie of Grays Asset Services, a registered, 
independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised qualification and recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued. Fair values were determined on the basis of market value.

As at 30 June 2018, the directors of the Corporation are of the opinion that in all material respects, the carrying 
amounts for plant and equipment and motor vehicles represent fair values at that date.

9 Trade and other payables 
Trade creditors 256,155 470,187
Accruals  134,391 106,144
GST (receivable) / payable (573) 170,569
PAYG payable 57,234 58,197
Salaries and wages accrued 65,000 43,000
Liability for annual leave 237,498 236,090
Liability for sick leave 205,324 198,894
Liability for TOIL 84,998 57,811

1,040,027 1,340,892

10 Other employee benefits
The Corporation makes contributions to defined contribution plans.  The amount recognised as an expense was 
$415,195 for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: $361,392). 

11 Provisions – employee benefits
Current

Long service leave 168,301 138,780

Non-current

Long service leave 5,597 15,140

Long service leave

The provision for long service leave represents the Corporation’s best estimate of the future benefit that 
employees have earned.  The amount and timing of the associated outflows is uncertain and dependent on 
employees attaining the required years of services.  Where the Corporation no longer has the ability to defer 
settlement of the obligation beyond 12 months from the reporting date, liabilities are presented as current.  This 
would usually occur when employees are expected to reach the required years of service in the 12 months from 
reporting date.  
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As at 30 June 2018, the directors of the Corporation are of the opinion that in all material respects, the carrying 
amounts for plant and equipment and motor vehicles represent fair values at that date.

9 Trade and other payables 
Trade creditors 256,155 470,187
Accruals  134,391 106,144
GST (receivable) / payable (573) 170,569
PAYG payable 57,234 58,197
Salaries and wages accrued 65,000 43,000
Liability for annual leave 237,498 236,090
Liability for sick leave 205,324 198,894
Liability for TOIL 84,998 57,811

1,040,027 1,340,892

10 Other employee benefits
The Corporation makes contributions to defined contribution plans.  The amount recognised as an expense was 
$415,195 for the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: $361,392). 

11 Provisions – employee benefits
Current

Long service leave 168,301 138,780

Non-current

Long service leave 5,597 15,140

Long service leave

The provision for long service leave represents the Corporation’s best estimate of the future benefit that 
employees have earned.  The amount and timing of the associated outflows is uncertain and dependent on 
employees attaining the required years of services.  Where the Corporation no longer has the ability to defer 
settlement of the obligation beyond 12 months from the reporting date, liabilities are presented as current.  This 
would usually occur when employees are expected to reach the required years of service in the 12 months from 
reporting date.  
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12 Operating leases

Leases as lessee 

The Corporation leases its Cairns office from Cape York Building Pty Ltd under an operating lease. The lease 
runs for a period of five years, expiring on 31 March 2020, with an option to renew the lease after that date for a 
further five years. Lease payments are increased every year to reflect market rentals.

The Corporation leases two photocopiers from Canon Finance under an operating lease. The previous lease 
expired on 31 March 2018. A new lease was entered into on 1 July 2018 for two photocopiers from Canon 
Finance under an operating lease for five years, expiring on 29 May 2023. Photocopiers were leased on a 
monthly basis in the intermission between leases.  

None of the leases include contingent rentals.

At reporting date, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were payable as follows: 

2018 2017
$ $ 

Less than one year 127,319 118,786
Between one and five years 116,244 203,922
More than five years - -

243,562 322,708

During the year ended 30 June 2018, $132,834 was recognised as an expense in respect of operating leases 
(2017: $135,355). 

13 Capital and reserves 

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment. 

Movements in the revaluation reserve were as follows:  

Balance at beginning of financial year 482,739 482,739
Net adjustment to non-current assets at end of period to 
reflect a change in current fair value:

Plant and equipment - -
Motor vehicles - -

Balance at end of financial year 482,739 482,739

Revaluation reserve analysis
The closing balance of the revaluation reserve comprises 
the following asset categories

Plant and equipment 146,022 146,022
Motor vehicles 336,717 336,717

482,739 482,739
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2018 2017 
$ $ 

14 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
Net surplus / (deficit) 127,171 (115,589) 

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 188,632 176,959
(Gain) / loss on disposal of fixed assets (27,811) -

287,992 61,370
Changes in:
Trade and other receivables 29,432 (111,048) 
Trade and other payables - grants (2,102,187) 2,866,375
Trade and other payables – suppliers and employees (271,345) 190,322
Prepayments 24,621 (14,542)
Employee benefits (9,543) (17,496)
Accrued revenue (81,213) -

Net cash from operating activities (2,122,243) 2,974,981 

15 Related parties

a Transactions with key management personnel

i Loans to directors 

No loans have been made to directors during the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: nil).

ii Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation 677,044 592,300

Compensation of the Corporation’s key management personnel includes salaries, non-cash benefits and 
contributions to a post-employment defined contribution plan. 

iii Loans to key management personnel

No loans have been made to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: nil).  

iv Key management personnel and director transactions

A number of key management personnel and directors, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities 
that result in them having control or significant influence over these entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Corporation during the year.  The terms and conditions of the 
transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be 
available, in similar transactions with non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis.

• Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as trustee for the Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust – Richie Ah Mat
and Allan Creek were directors during the financial year. Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as trustee for
the Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust owns 100% of the shares of the following entities:
- Cape York Building Pty Ltd as trustee for the Cape York Building Unit Trust
- Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation Pty Ltd
- Adai Cape York Investments Pty Ltd
- Cape York Digital Network Pty Ltd

• Kalan Enterprises / (Coen Car Hire) – Dion Creek was a director during the financial year.
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• The Cape York Partnership Group Ltd – Richie Ah Mat and Dion Creek were directors during the
financial year.

• Ngan Aak Kunch – Jonathan Korkaktain and Phyllis Yunkaporta were directors during the financial year.
• Thaa Nguigarr Strathgordon – Herbert Bally was a director during the financial year.
• Jabalbina – Francis Walker was a director during the financial year.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and 
entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

Transaction values for the 
year ended 30 June

Balance outstanding 
as at 30 June

Income Expenses Debtors Creditors
$ $ $ $

2017
Balkanu Cape York Development 
Corporation Pty Ltd 282,688 45,546 18,674 30,984
Bama Cape York Services Limited 3,694 - - -
Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd 22,593 - - -
Ngan Aak Kunch Aboriginal Corporation 6,170 - 5,090 -
Cape York Building Pty Ltd - 134,890 - -

2018
Ang-Gnarra Aboriginal Corporation - 1,100 - -
Balkanu Cape York Development 
Corporation Pty Ltd 329,136 40,000 25,351 -
Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd 3,088 - - -
The Cape York Partnership Group Ltd 17,028 - 17,028 -
Jabalbina - 74,800 - -
Kalan Enterprises / (Coen Car Hire) - 1,787 - -
Kuuku Ya'u 17,953 3,000 - -
My Pathway 3,167 - 3,167 -
RAATSIC (Remote Area Aboriginal & TSI 
Islander Child Care - 836 - -
Thaa Nguigarr Strathgordon 53,055 - 8,449 -
Walmbaar 1,015 - - -
Yintijinjga 12,786 5,500 - -
Ngan aak Kunch Aboriginal Corporation - 260 - -
Cape York Building Pty Ltd - 127,126 - -

16 Auditor’s remuneration 
2018 2017

$ $ 

Audit services 

Auditors of the Corporation – Grant Thornton 
Audit of financial statements 25,750 25,000

Other services 

Auditors of the Corporation – Grant Thornton
Other assurance and taxation services – 30 June 2016 - 12,100
Other assurance and taxation services – 30 June 2017 11,006 5,270
Other assurance and taxation services – 30 June 2018 3,265 -

14,271 17,370
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Correspondence to: 
PO Box 7200
Cairns QLD 4870

T +61 7 4046 8888
F +61 7 4051 0116
E info.cairns@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Independent auditor’s report

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (the “Corporation”), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation is in 
accordance with the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 , including:

a giving a true and fair view of the Corporation’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations 
(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 2007 and any applicable determinations made by the 
Registrar of Aboriginal Corporations under Division 336 of the Act.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our
report. We are independent of the Corporation in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and 
each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited 
ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Corporation’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and 
the auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Corporation are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Corporation’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Corporation or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilies.ar4.pdf. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

H A  Wilkes
Principal – Audit & Assurance

Cairns,  4 October 2018
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